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EXBMINATION INDEX

RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D.
BY MR. MISHRD e e e e e e e 3
BY MR, SHROGE . . . . . . . . . 1l1is

EXHIBIT INDEX

1 Letter report to William Pfau from Ronald 24

e
Diamond dated March 18, 2003

2 Letter to Ronald Diamond from William Pfaun 50
dated March 12, 2003

3 Handwritten notes 117

£ Curriculum Vitas of Bonald J. Diamond &

DEPOSITION of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D., a
witness in the above-entitled action, taken at the
instance of the plaintiffs, under the provisions of
Chapter 804 of the Wisconsin Statutes, pursuant to
notice, before HEIDI L. DAVIS, a Notary Public in and for
the State of Wisconsin, at the offices of Wisconsin
Psychiatric Institute and Clinics, 6001 Research Park
Boulevard, in the City of Madison, County of Dane, and
State of Wisconsin, on October 8, 2003, commencing at

3:10 o'clock p.m.
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

APPEARANCES

HOWARD D, MISHKINWD,
BECKER & MISHKIND COMPANY, LPA,
Attorneys at Law, 1660 West Second Street,
Suite 660, Cleveland, Ohio, 44113,
appearing on behalf of the plaintiffs;

WILLIAM E. PFAU, IIT,
PFAU, PFAU & MARANDO, Attorneys at Law,
P.O. Box 9070, Youngstown, Ohio, 44513,
appearing on behzaif of the defendant
A, James Giannini, M.D.;

MICHAEL D. SHROGE, (By Telephone),
REMINGER & REMINGER COMPANY, LPA,
Attorneys at Law, 1400 Midland Building,
101 Prospect Avenue West, Cleveland, Ohio,

44115~108%3, appearing on behalf of the
defendant Dan Newman, M.D.

{(Exhibits 1 thrxough 4 are marked for identification)
RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D.,
called as a witness, after being first
duly sworn in the above cause, testified
under oath as follows:
EXAMINATION
BY MR. MISHKIND:
Would you please state your full name for the record.
Ronald J. Diamond.
And you are a physician?
Yeah.
I understand you are a psychiatrist, is that true?

Yes.

[F3]
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

Dr. Diamond, my name is Howard Mishkind and I
represent the Estate of Lawrence Lorelli in connection
with a lawsuit that's been filed.

And it's my understanding that you have been
retained on behalf of Dr. Giannini and his corporation
to testify as an expert in their defense at the time
ial of this matter, iz that true?

That is correct.

What I would like to do is have you identify for the
record plaintiffs’ Exhibit 4, which was marked before
we began thse deposition.

It's a slightly out-of-date version of my CV, not
materially diffaerent from the current version.

How out of date is it?

I think it's more than a year old. It would only miss
--— it's from June, '0l, which means it misses some
current publications and some current presentations.
Is there a current CV that is prepared but not printed
ocut?

At home, in my home computer. I could give you an
updated version.

If you would do that --

As I say, it would not -- I think for, my job
description titles have not changed in that time, but

I would be glad to do that.

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LTD.
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

All it will have is some additional publications and
perhaps some speeches and things of that nature?

Yes.

If you would provide a copy to Mr. Pfau and then he
will send a copy to me.

Sure.

In loocking at your CV, Doctor, in the category of
Consultant/Expert Witness for Class Action Litigation,
there are a number of positions that you have held
that are described on page 3 of your CV, is that true?
YTas.

Can you tell me a little bit about what capacity you
have served as an expert in this class action
litigation referenced here?

I was an expert witness in some cases that were
brought in California and in Maine. They were all
many years ago.

They were all basically large system change type
rather than individual malpractice type situations.
What do you mean by that?

That means an attempt was made to get a court
injunction to change how the system of care operated
and put more money into the systems of care. There
was not an attempt to get redress for individual

claims.

911
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

Were these malpractice claims?
No.
Who were you serving as an expert on behalf of in the
class action litigation?
In all cases they were public interest law firms that
were suing county systems of care or state systems of
care trying to get those systems of care to change.
And those class actions were in California?
California and Maine. That may have been old enough
that it dropped off my CV.

And I was algo invelved after a judicial finding
in Washington, D.C., that was post, posttrial.
When you say after judicial finding, what do you mean
by that?
There was a court master appointed in Washington, D.C.
and I was brought in as a consultant expert witness to
the master to see if certain court-ordered changes
waere in fact taking place.
And this all had to do with provisgion of care as
opposad to standards of care?
I'm not sure I understand the difference.
Well, you were testifying as an expert on behalf of
public law interests?
Right.

And your testimony was that the system in the various

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LTD,
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

states needed to be changed?

Coxrrect.

And what's, what essentially were you testifving
needed to be changed?

Well, for example, in California, I was testifving
that large numbers of people were ending up
involuntarily committed to hospitals that could have
been treated in the community had community services
been available.

In Maine it was largely the same thing, the
recple were staving at the state hospital, state
institution and other people were found to be
homeless, when in fact more adequate services would
have allowed those people to have stable housing
outside of hospital systems.

What states are you licensed in?

California and Wisconsin.

Have you actually practiced in California®?

I was a resident there. I have not practiced there
since I finished my training.

Have you ever practiced in the State of Ohio?

No.

Your practice here in Wisconsin, is it a c¢linical
practice?

It's a bit complicated. I spend half my time as a

-
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faculty person -- actually I'm full time at the
University of Wisconsin faculty. As part of that, I
have an cutpatient clinical practice, garden variety
psychiatry, about a day or a day and a half a week.
I'm also the medical director at the Mental
Health Center of Dane County, which is the private,
nonprofit providing services to county indigent
patients. And about a day a week of that is as a
consultant tertiary referral providing ongoing patient

care to people I have had for a long time.

I consult with the state one day a week. A lot of
that is going arcund doing difficult case conferences,
difficult patient second opinions.

I do teaching. I try and do some writing. I get
involved in some policy issues at the state. I have
some administrative responsibilities at the Mental
Health Center.

How much of your professional time would you say is
involved in the administrative function as opposed fo
clinical aspects of the practice of psychiatry?

I'm probably a little bit over half time direct
clinical, either with my own patients or as
consultants to other people's patients or in some

tertiary referral. I do second opinions on a variety

oo
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Depogition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

of cases.

And then the other slightly less than 50 percent of
the time is more in the administrative?

Some teaching and some administrative.

How much of that time that's slightly less than 50

percent consists of teaching?

week. That goes up and down depending on when
gseminars start and stop.

What seminars or courses are you currently teaching?
He just snded ths amergency psychiatry seminar which
is my seminar. We continue the community psychiatry
seminaxr, which is a seminar on how to treat people
with serious mental illness in the community.

I just started a best of call. I sit with
residents once a week and we talk about the most
difficult cases that have come through the emergency
room in the last week.

Tonight I'm giving a guest lecture to the school
of social work on psychopharmacology. So I have a
variety of one-shot guest lectures.

I noticed, in doing some research, that you have
published, in addition to those items which we will

talk about on your CV, but two items that sort of came

to the forefront as I did a2 little bit of research.

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LID.
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One was the Instant Psychopharmacology: A Guide for
Nonmedical Mental Health Care Providers.

Second editicen is up on the shelf available fox
purchase if you would care to see it.

The first edition is now out of print?

I expect so. It's out of date.

And then the other one is Breakthroughs in
Antipsychotic Medications: A Guide for Consumers.
Again, it's a book on the new generation of atypical
antipsychotic medication. I have been involved in
teaching consumers, family members and also nonmedical
mental health professionals about medical issues for a
long time.

Trying to simplify some of the medicine?

Yes.

And also to make sure that nonmedical care providers
recognize that there may be organic versus nonorganic
explanations for various symptoms? ¢

We are now running a Friday morning lecture series on
medical illnesses that can present as psychiatric
problems for social workers, psychologists, for
nonmedical people. So if somebody with depression or
anxiety walked into your office, what should you worry
about medically if you are not a physician.

I'm pleased to see that some consumers and some

PROFESSIONAIL REPORTERS, LTD.
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family members have also attended that lecture series.
Doctor, in looking at your CV, I notice a number of
visiting faculty positions as well as invited
presentations?

Yes.

Do any of those piesentations touch on any of the
topics that are germane to this case, and by that I
mean anything dealing with the risk assessment or the
evaluation of patients that are at risk for committing
suicide?

2 number of them involve crisis intervention
gensrally. For day-long workshops and crisis
intervention, I typically will get intoc risk
asseagsment.

And I teach the section here for psychiatry
residents on suicide assessment and suicide
epidemiology. So that's part of my area of teaching.
Let’'s talk about that for a moment.‘ Is this a
clinical or is this a classroom course that you teach?
It's a very practical seminar for psgchiatry residents
who are beginning to be on call in the emergency
room. Basically --

Tell me what it's called again, please.

It's the emergency psychiatry seminar. It's a

practical how~to seminar for young doctors who are

il
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just beginning to take call themselves.

It's basically case based. 8o while there is
reading and some formal discussion, much of the
teaching is around suicidal patients, or aggressive
patients or difficult patients that people are seeing
that week and we talk about it within the context of
how to do the assessment, how to intervene.

How do you provide the residents with case specific
information for purposes of teaching?

My co-teacher and I have been doing this work for more
than 25 vears. So we have our own experience.

We try as much as possible to get the residents
to talik about the cases that they have seen in the
laét week cr tweo.

Do you provide the residents with any printed material
on cases or make available to them information, for
example, on the Internet?

We have handouts and readings for each of the sesszions
as one would for any other seminar. I don't typically
provide cases.

We hope that they provide the cases. They are
seeing people in the emergency rooms, so we want thenm
to talk about people that they have recently seen.

The handouts that you give, are any of them specific

to the risk factors for patients that would increase

12
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

the likelihood of a patient attempting to commit
suicide?

I have a handout on suicide assessment

o]
o

intervention, if you would like to see that.

Do you have it here with you?

It's in one of my piles. I could probably go through
Okay.

The seminar just ended, so I'm not vet organized for
next vear yet.

What we will do is we will continue on just so that we
don't take too much time, because Bill and I both have
a plane to catch to get back to Cleveland, and we will
see how we are doing time wise.

If we have time, we will pull it out and I will
take a look at it and see if I have any questions. If
not, we will have you provide it to us.

Is this document that's in the stack to my right,
is this fairly typical of the type of material that
you provide to the residents during the emergency
psychiatric seminar?

Right. Basically every week I will hand out readings,
some that I have written, some that are from the other
literature, to focus the =zeminar.

Other than to the residents here, have any of the

i3
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speeches or the invited presentations that you have
done locally or out of state been related to the topic
of suicidality or the risk factors for suicide?

Yes. I have taught regularly on general crisis
intervention dealing with chronic crisis patients,
that is, people who are regularly involved in self-
harm behavior, folks with borderline personality
disorder, which are people at ongoing high risk.

When I talk about suicide, which is a regular
topic, suicidality in people with schizophrenia is
always 2 real fear because 10 percent of pecpls with
schizophrenia will eventually kill them self.

Sc in a variety of clinical areas, suicide is
something to be discussed and is part of a regular
teaching protccol for a variety of different topics.
What about the area of bipolar affective disorder, is
that alsco, in your experience, an area that there is a
high incidence of suicide in that patient population?
Very high. The issue there is while I give overview
talks, for example, I just did it for probation
officers and for judges around the state and for
clergy and different teachings, I wouldn't typically,
because of my background and expertise, do an ongoing
workshop just on bipolar.

I might do one on schizophrenia or an all dav on

i4
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general psychopathology that would include bipolar,
but bipolaxr is not a particular academic focused area
of mine. I certainly see bipclar patients in my
clinical experience.

What would you say is your area of expertise within
the area of psychiatry?

People who are difficult to treat, often people with
schizophrenia or borderline disorder, or people with
bipolar disorder who are considered fairly difficult
to treat by other practitioconers.

0f the patient population that vou sae out in the
community or in clinic, what percentage of those
patients are schizophrenics?

Half.

So if I met you at a social function and I was talking
to you and I asked you what area, what's your
specialty in psychiatry, you would tell me my
specialty is treating difficult patients?

People, yes, community psychiatry, people who are
perceived as difficult.

Have you ever functioned as a psychiatrist in a
psychiatric clinic that was not a community-based
clinic, one that was a private clinic that people
either had to have insurance or the ability to pay for

their gservices?

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LTD.
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

My practice here is actually much more a general
garden variety practice. I get some referrals because
some people know my specialty area and I get secondary
or tertiary referrals there, but in the general intake
of the clinic, I have specifically put myself in the
general intake rotation rather than letting the
referrals Just go to my academic specialty to broaden
my clinical base. So I'm in the regular intake
process and will get intakes once a week in rotation
across the beoard of pathology.

I'm looking at, on your CV, you have got videctapas
that are referenced?

They are fairly old at this point.

Will your updated CV have newer videotapes?

No. We have stopped deing that. They just weren't
used enough to justify the cost of doing it.

It was an experiment the state did to see if we
could distribute material. We are now doing statewide
teleconferences and video conferences instead.

On what topics?

We have just finished a series, actually we have one
more, a series of statewide trainings for probation
officers around the state. The next one is on
psychopharmacology.

We had one on bprderliine disorder. The first one

i6
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was on general psychopathology, all of mental illness.
That was a video conferencing series that we had.

We do a telephone conferencing series every two
weeks the last seven years, that has every topic one
could imagine to try and get mental health training
out to rural areas of the state, so that, for example,
we do topics for front line elinical staff, social |
workers, psychologists working in rural parts of
Wisconsin that might include an update on diagnosis,
on psychopharnmacology, or suicide assessment, on
borderline discrder, on spirituality.

And that's been going for seven vears now. I
think it's seven years.

That's under the state one-day-~a-week contract
that I have with them through the department here.
They pay the department money and I get to do a
variety of trainings of that sort.

Looking at this unpublished paper on Psychiatric
Presentations of Medical Illness, are you the author
of that publication?

That's one of these things that I never got published
but is spread around the Internet actually and has a
certain play. That's been updated recently.

In fact, is this the --

{Counsel hands witness document)

i7
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

Yes, actually.
MR. PFAU: That's probably the
updated one.
It might have been. I don't know what year this is,
but this is the Internet version of it. I think there
is a more recent version of this.

This is from Januarv of 1990. I'm not sure if
that's the most recent version. Things pass around
the Internet and you lose control of them.
Publications, I see you have published two books, one
I think I touched on --

Both of which you touched on.

Both of which I touched on. Do either of those, in
your opinion, have any areas that deal specifically
with the area of suicidality or risk factors for
suicide?

No.

Do any of the papers that you have published have any
areas that are relevant to suicide issues?

The only one that comes to mind is we published a
chapter on crisis intervention, which I believe
probably makes some mention of suicide assessment,
although that's not the focus of the paper.

Could you perhaps identify that on your CV and circle

the number and also state it into the record.

is
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

{(Witness examines document)
I could get a copy of that. Again, suicide is not the
central focus of that paper, but I believe it gets
mentioned.
And just for the record, on page 15 you circled an
article which you and Dr. Factor, F-a-c~t-o-r,
authored on Emergency Psychiatry and Crisis Resolution
in Community Psychiatry, a Practitioner's Manual, and
that's a 1886 publication, correct?
I have copies of that if you would like one.
I would like that, if you could. So there iz now two
items that I have asked you for copies of.

Other than this one that touches on suicidality
or risk factors for suicide, the other publications,
is it fair to say, are not relevant to the topic of
suicide?

The other published publicationsg. The informal
handouts that I use for training would be more
relevant. And I will make those available to you.
The book reviews, do any of them deal with the issue
of suicide?

I don't believe so.

Letters and newsletters, any of them deal with the
topic of suicide?

T don't believe so.

1is
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You have a category Current Active Research Projects.
And I know that the institution that we are at is
significantly research based, true?
YTes.
Do any of your current research projects have anything
to do with suicidality or risk factors associated with
suicide?
o,
Amongst psychiatrists, do you hold vourself out as an
expert in the area of suicidality?
I hold myself out as an expert in difficult behavior,
suicide being one kind of that.
What component of difficult behavior or what
percentage of difficult behavior would you say suicide
or suicidality makes up the difficult patient, if you
understood what I just asked you?
If you talk about difficult people, difficult broadly
defined, about a third of them are probably at risk
for suicide. About a third of them scare other pecple
whether they are actually assaultive or not. And
about a third of them are causing problematic behavior
that other people don't know how to deal with, peeing
in public or just badgering people.

And I get involved, both in my clinical work as a
consultant and as a policy person in our local area,

+

20

FROFESSICHNAL REPORTERS, LTD.




RN

12

w0 9 oy UF e

10
i1
12
13
14
i5
1ie
i7
i8
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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about how to deal with those kinds of behaviors.

Have you besen involved on the policy level in terms of

as it relates to recognizing the risk factors that
increase a patient's likelihood of attempting to
commit suicide?

No. &and in fact, increasingly -~ a listing of risk
factors may in fact not be worth it. It may cause
more problems than it helps, that the current strategy
that T and others adopt is to be aware of some of the
risk factors but then to think about clinical
processes and the ways to extract clinical information
rather than a cookbook of if you have five checkmarks
or a particular score, you are a particular risk.

The research on trying to predict suicide based
on risk factor algorithms demonstrates that it cannot
be done that way.

So certainly a psychiatric evaluation of a patient,
history and historical matters as well as current
medical issues, coupled with the common risk factors
are what needs to be integrated together, correct?
Yes,

MR. SHROGE: Objection,.
So the only item that's specific to your CV, Doctor,

that would be relevant to the topics in this case with

21
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Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

a man who committed suicide, who had a history of
bipclar affective disorder, who had been a patient of
Dr. Giannini's in the past and who contacted his
office in 1988 and then the issue of standard of care,
which we are going to talk about, the only article
that would touch on anything similar to those issues
¢oiild e the one that you have circled for me, is that
true?
MR. PFAU: I'm going to object to

the gquestion, but you can go ahead and answer.
I think that's the only published work.
And recognizing that we talked about the materiail for
the residents and the other item that, the other
unpublished article that you are going to be providing
toc me which may or may not touch on that?
Right.
Okay. Thank you.

{Counsel examines documents)

You are board certified, is that correct?
Yes.
By what board?
American Board of Psychiatry and Neurclogy.
Were you successful in becoming board cexrtified on
your first attempt?

Yes.

B
]

PROFESSIONAL REFORTERE, LTD.




W N =

© BN -~ o U

Jt
jed

13
14
i5
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

0 PO

#

Lo}

© ¥ 0 P

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

When did you become board certified?

I believe it was 1877. It might have been '78.
(Counsel examines document)

Are you a product of the Wisconsin area?

No.

Where are you originally from?

I grew up outside of Philadelphis, trained at Stanford
in California and came here for an academic job. I am

still in my fizrst job.

You've never practiced in Cleveland, Ohioc or northeast
Chio, have you?

No.

The defendant in this case that you are appearing as
an expert on behaif of, Dr. Giannini, do you know
him?

No.

Do you know anything about him by way of reputation?
No.

Have you had an opportunity at any time since being
involved in this case to talk with him in any respect?
No.

The licensed professional counselor Dr. Newman, who is
another party in this case, do you know him?

No.

Do you know anything about his reputation?

(]
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No.

Have you talked with him?

No.

The report that you wrote I have marked as plaintiffs'

Exhibit 1 and you probably have a copy of it, but just

for the record, is plaintiffs’ Exhibit 1, which is my

copy, & true and accurate copy of your report?
(Witness examines documents)

It appears to be so.

8c I will either refer to Exhibit 1 or your report

from time to time just so long as we know what we are

In lcoking at your file, which you were kind
enough to provide to me, other than a few notes, at
least one of which I have marked as an exhibit, I
don't see that in the course of your review of this
case that you made any type of notes, handwritten
notes or printed out any typed notes?

No.

So for purposes of your report, you would receive
certain information and you were asked to assume
certain facts by Mr., Pfau in arriving at the opinions
that you expressed in your report, correct?

Correct.

End obvicusly, depending upon the truth or the
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accuracy of those assumed facts, that may or may not
impact the opinions that you hold in this case, truse?
Correct.
We will talk about those assumptions a little bit
further as well. Beside the information that was
provided to you by Mr. Pfau for purposes of your
report, 4did you review anything slse to arrive at any
of the opinions that you have expressed in your
report?
I had access to the various other reports from other
physicians. I saw Dr. Morrison's after I had written
mine, but I don't think that they materially
influenced my cpinion.

MR. PFAU: I think his question --

you meant stuff other than what I sent the doctor
I thought from your question.

MR, MISHKIND: Yeah, it was.
Just so we can clean it up -~

MR, MISHKIND: Thank you, Bill.
Just so we can clean it up, for purposes of your
report, I think what you had was Dr. Sudak's --
Yes.
You had Dr. Sudak's report, but I don't believe at the
time you wrote your report that you had his

deposition?
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I think that's correct.

¥ou had Dr. Giannini's deposition, vou had

Dr. Newman's deposition and I think you may have had
another deposition or two?

Quite honestly, I was not asked to write a report
based on matters of fact but based on assumptions. So
that whilse I read a number of the other depositions, T
did not go through them with a fine-tooth comb. I had
Kathy Marie Ludt's deposition I believe at the time,
but it may have come afterwards.

And heside Kathy Iudt, L-u-d-t, Eathy Ludt's
deposition, Dr. Giannini --

Dr. Newnan.

-- Dr. Newman, have there been any other -- were there
any other depositions that were provided to you prior
to preparing your report dated in March of '037?

No.

Subsequent to the report in March of '03 you received
Dr. Sudak's deposition?

Yes.

And you received Dr. Morrison's report?

Yes.

Anything else other than transmittal letters?

I received the office procedures manual at my reguest

from Dr. Giannini's office.
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And did you review that?

I dig.

Did you tab anything in the office manual or highlight

anything?
No.

Did you f£ind anything in

based upon these assumed

I specifically looked on

J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

the cffice manual to be

T

s that you have arrived at

Eacts?

the written procedures, if

patients identified themselves as being in sxtreme
distress, what were staff gsupposed to do, what was
written down formally. And I have also asked Mr., Pfau
what the informal training was based on his
discussions with office staff.

And what were you advised by Mr. Pfau were the
informal training?

Well, he then referred me back to some of the other,
the reports from Ms. Ludt. 2And it suggested that if
there is a real problem and if people cannot call,
cannot contact a therapist, which is what is in the
office procedure, staff is directed to send the people
to the hospital.

And would you agree that if a crisis situation

presents itself to an office staff person and there

isn't a psychiatrist or another healith care provider
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available, that failure to refer that patient to an
emergency room would be below the standard of care?

I don't know what it mesans to have standard of care
for office personnel. Standard of care is something T
apply to professionals.

Okay. Have you ever had an office where you had
nonmedical personnel working?

Al]l the time, here and at the Mental Health Center.
And you recognize that ultimately you are responsible
for what the nonmedical personnel do, correct?

I zssume sC.

¥You recognize that you have to have a procedure set up
so that nonmedically trained pecple are, have buzz
words or enough training, if they are going to be
placed in the position of being on the fromnt line to
receive telephone calls and contact, to know what to
do and what not to do if a crisis presents to them,
true?

True.

And let me ask you this. Are you aware first whether
there are any published standards, or guidelines or
protocols that apply to an office-based psychiatric
clinic in terms of what nonmedical personnel need to
do to comply with accepted standards when a crisis

situation presents?
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No, I'm not aware of any published standards.

Would vou agree that reasonable and ordinary care
would dictate that a psychiatrist should have a system
set up sco that nonmedically trained personnel take
appropriate steps either to refer a patient tc the
emergency room or to get that person in contact with a
mental health care providser when & crisis situation
presents to the office?

It seems that front line administrative staff should
have some training about what to de. I'm not sure

that all small oiffices have that as a written policy.

femf

I don't work in small offices, so don't know.
Whether it's written or not written -~

There should be some, some training.

S0 we can agree that ordinary and reasonable care or
standard of care, whether it's written or not written,
should be to provide reasonable training to the
nocnmedical personnel to be zble to prudently handle
crisis situations, true?

Yes.

Failure to have that type of system in effect so that
nenmedical personnel are unable to or don't know what
to did when a crisis situation presents would be below

the standard of care, true?

Standard of care in this case is not -~ I'm not
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sure -~ I don't know if it's a standard of care issue
or not, I think ~- if standard of care applies to
that, then fine.

I'm not a lawyer, so I don't know if standard of
care applies to that kind of issue. I think the front
line staff should have training and should know what
te do.

And it really wouldn't be reasonable and prudent not
tc have the front line people prudently and
appropriately trained to handle erisis situations,
truae?

Yaah, well, veah. There is a problem, a serious issue
about in that training how much inquiry front line
staff should do. And one of the decisions that we
have made here is that we do not want untrained
secretarial staff asking people.

S0 if people present I'm about to kill myself,
they have a course of action, but we do not want them
to do any kind of clinical investigation. And that
was a decision we made after some thought here.

In the employee manual or the, it's not an employee
manual, but the handbook from Dr. Giannini's office,
is there any definition in there as to what a crisis

situation is?

A I could lock, but T don't belisve so.
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(Witness examines document)
It just says do not put emergency calls on hold, seek
an available therapist, for example, suicidal calls,
severe medication reactions, hopeless, helpless
situatiens, use your best judgment. That's as much of
a definition as they have come up with.
You would agree that z noamedical parson really
shouldn't be exercising judgment as to whether ox not
a call is or is not a crisis situation, true?
In 2 mental health facility, nonmedical people are
making those judgment calls every day all the tims.
We can say that they shouidn't, but I can tell voun
that also in any physician's office, at some level
people are making decisions what to pass through and
how to triage things. That may not be something
public, but it is in fact the case.
Well, would your dealing with a potential life or
death situation, which certainly a crisis situation in
psychiatry would include that, shouldn't nonmedically
trained personnel have reasonable training to be able
to understand what is or is not a potential crisis so
that they are not placed in the position of making
Judgments that you or another psychiatrist or another
mental health care provider would be better able to

make?

[¥3]
b

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LTD.




w o -1 o N b W N R

io
11
12
13
i4
15
ile
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

MR. PFAU: I object to the
gquestion.

MR. SHROGE: Objection.

MR. PFAU: You kind of lost me,

Howard, but if the doctor followed vou --

Go ahead, Doctor. Did you understand my question?

MR. PFAU: -~ if he didn't, vou can

restate it.

Gc ahead.
I get a whole variety of calls of people who are upset
and my secretary is making a decision about which to
leave as a message, which to page me on out of
whatever I'm doing, which to alert me at different
levels of priority, they can reach me by the end of
the day, within the next couple of hours or right
away.

One can say that we don't like untrained people
making those triage decisions, but I can tell you that
in every mental health practice, and probably in every
medical practice, there is some of that triage going
on. And without formal training, I can tell you that
I give feedback to my secretary, a little bit at
least, to help her get better at those triage
decisions.

Now, I don't know how public to be about that,
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but that's happening all over.

Well, going back to the issue of the responsibility of
Dr. Giannini, any employee that is working in his
clinic that is going to interact with patients that
come to see him ultimately he is responsible for?

And if somebody calls up and says I need to talk to
Dr. Giannini now, the secretary is obviously not going
to page him for every one of those calls. And so they
are going tc have to use their Jjudgment at some point
about how to triage or handle which of those calls.
And if it's a life or death situation or sxpressed to
the secretary as a2 life or death situation that the
patient is going through in the present as opposed to
in the past, is that something that you would expect
an office procedure or an cffice setting to have some
mechanism in effect to get that information conveyed
promptly to someone trained to handle a life or death
situation?

Yes. If the patient calls and says I'm about to kill
myself, then that's going to automatically invcke
various emergency procedures, grab somebody in the
hall, contact somebody right away, page somebody out
of an office.

Let me ask vou this, Doctoer. Rather than them saying

I'm going tec kill myself, if they say that I'm going
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through a life or death situation, is it incumbent
upon the nonmedical personnel to ask them what do vou
mean by going through a iife or death situation, or is
that enough of a buzz phrase that the nonmedical
person should get a medically trained person t¢ handle
the call?
Probably it wounld inveoke z second guestion, but agszain
I'm not exactly sure what the nature of the
interaction was.
What would vou expect the next guestion to be if
somecne czllis in and says that I'm going through a
life or death situation?

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
Go ahead. The objection is only for the record.
Oh, ckay.

MR. PFAU: You can go ahead.
This is actually complicated because we ourselves have
had a discussion zbout whether we want our secretaries
at that point to say are you feeling suicidal now.
That gets into a whole clinical dialogue very rapidly
and do we want secretaries to be put in a position
where somebody is now talking about their suicidality,
because once you open that up, people's distress can
get overwhelming pretty fast.

S50 on one hand, in common sense, it's tempiting to

34

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LTD.




W N e

[ ) T &2 DR -

]

i3
14
15
ie
17
is
19
20
21
22
23
24

Z5

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D., 10-08-03

say somebody should ask are you feeling suicidal now.
It's actually complicated to know if that's the right
answer in all cases.
Well, if one doesn't go that route and ask whether ox
not they are feeling suicidal now, is it appropriate
to take no action other than to schedule an
appeintment for three weeks later for the psychiatrist
to see that patient?
You probably want to get a message either to the
primary therapist or to a backup for somebody to
return the call or to investigate further, whether the
secretary investigates further or someone else, it
would be nice to get a sense of how much time vou
have; it may take me a while to get a message through
to somebody, will yvou be ckay for an hour or two, or
whatever. How you investigate that becomes actually
fairly complicated.
Would you agree that as complicated as it may be, that
reasonable care in the area of psychiatry would be to
investigate that type of call if the decision is not
to have the secretary ask at that time?
Something should happen.

MR. SEROGE: Objection.
And should that investigation take place days later or

certainly within hours of that telephcne call?
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I would expect within hours.

Okay. In going back just briefly to the office
procedure manual for a moment, can we agree that this
office procedure manual does not delineate the steps
that one should take in exercising their best judgment
to determine how acute the crisis is?

I agree, it does not delineate. Actually, when I read
it, I was impressed that it delineated as much as it
did for a small office.

But be that as it may, it doesn't, it doesn't provide
the secretary with what is meant by exercise yvour best
Judgment in terms of handling a potential crisis
situation, true?

The written document does not.

And do you know of any evidence that you have seen in
this case, from your review of the depositions, that
there was any additional training that the secretary
had in terms of handling potential crisis situations?
Mr. Pfau indicated to me that the staff had told him,
and it's in some of their depositions, that they were
to direct people to the hospital emergency room if
they could not reach a therapist.

Do you see any evidence in any written record, either
the secretarvy’'s note or anything that vou have

reviewed, that confirms that Mr. Lorelli was directed
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to an emergency room during any of his interactions
with Dr. Giannini's office?
No.
Would you expect that if a patient calls expressing
that they are going through a life or death situation
and it's determined that this is an acute crisis and a
referral is made to, for the patient to go to an
emergency rcom, that under normal circumstances
something should be noted in conjunction with that
patient's entry about going through a life or death
situation, that in fact the patient was told to go to
the emergency room?

MR. SHROGE: OCbjiection.
It would be nice. We are not now talking about a
medical record. We are talking about how
administrative support people document their phone
interactions. And I can tell you that those are not
medical record entries and they tend to be scattered
in my experience.
Reasonable practice, however, would be to make a
notation that that patient was referred to an
emergency room because the psychiatrist or the
therapist was not available?
It would be nice for that to have happened.

That would be reascnable, true?
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A T don't think it's standard. I mean, I think that's

what should happen. I'm not sure that that’s what
does happen.
Fair enough.
{Counsel examines document)
I'm going to go into detail about the opinions that
y¥ou have that you have expressed in your report, but
first I want te find out whether your report contains
all of the opinions that you intend to provide on
direct examination by Mr. Pfau at the time of the
trial?
My report is based on assumptions that he asked me to
consider. If the assumptions change, then of course
my opinions would change in keeping. My report did
not go through or comment on issues of fact.
Okay. And again, your opinions are only as good as
the assumptions that the attorney for Dr. Giannini
asked you.to make, correct?
Correct.
I didn't know whether your head nodding also included
a verbal correct. The court reporter is telling me it
digd.
MR. PFAU: Howard, if I might state
for the record here today, because of the nature

of, the speculative nature of the plaintiffs’
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evidence in this case --

MR, MISHKIND: Well, I'm going to
object to any statement about speculative. |

MR. PFAU: My statement for the
record is that I do not know and will not be able
to know until the close of the plaintiffs' case
what factual assumptions may be presented to my
experts in the trial of this case.

MR. MISHEIND: Well, I'm here to
take his deposition based upon --

MR. PFAU: I undsrstand.

MR, MISHEIND: Let me finish,
please. I'm here to take his deposition based
upon the opinions that he had when he wrote his
report, the opinions that he has right now. There
have been a lot of depositions taken.

And certainly I object to your
reference to speculation. There are certain
disputes with regard to what the facts are in this
case, but --

MR. PFAU: Go ahead, and then I
will make my comment.

MR. MISHKIND: That's fine and you
can do that, but to say that the doctor is going

te come in and provide different copinions based
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upon evidence that comes in at the time of the
trial, yvou have the testimony of the plaintiffs’
aexpert, you have the report, you have the
depositions of all of the plaintiffs’' witnesses.
So I'm here to find out what his cpinions are
based upon all of the discovery.

And I would cokject if zll of =

ﬁ..l

sudden you elicited new opinions from him at the
time of trial based upon a new set of assumptions
which you didn't present to him prior to trial and
which otherwise could have been presented to him.

MR, PFAU: Well, what I'm saving is
I don't know what assumptions can be presented
until the plaintiff rests, but let's go ahead with
this deposition.

MR. MISHKIND: And just for the
record, I would object to anything beyond the
scope of his report and anything that has been
made available to him at this point considering
this is probkbably the only time I'm going to meet
you before you are sitting in a courtroom in
Mahoning County in January. So that's why I'm
belaboring the issue, so bear with me. Okay?

| THE WITNESS: Uh-hub.
MR. MISHKIND: Thank you. That
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grunt was a yes?
THE WITNESS: That was a yves.
Your report, any drafts of your report prepared?
I cleaned up some of the grammar and wording, but they
are not available. They are deleted.
Did you review the report or the content of the report
with Mr. Pfau beforse signing it and sending it off to
him?
I don't believe I did.
He can't answer.
Ch.
As much as he would like to, he can't answer.
I can't remember guite honestly, I'm sorry.
So you may have, you may not have?
I don't believe I did.
Okay. And after reviewing Dr. Sudak's report, you did
not, and Dr. Morrison's report and Dr. Sudak's
deposition for that matter, you didn't issue any
additional reports with any additional opiniens,
correct?
No. We had phone conversations after those.
MR. PFAU: Just to clarify,
understanding we are not in Cuyahoga County, that
doesn't mean he doesn't have additional opinions.

I'm sure you will get to that,

41

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LTD.




N B s W N

3

17
i8
i9
20
21
22
23
24
25

e

Lol R o I

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

MR. MISHKIND: Well, yeah.

And based upon the additional information that you
raviewaed subsegquent to this letter, have you arrived
at any additional opinions in this case?
I very much agreed with Dr. Morrison's report. T
thought Dr. -- I disagree with Dr. Sudak's report and
I wondered if, in his cwn practice, he followed the
standards that he was presenting as standards of care.
You are referring to -- you are locking at Dr. Sudak's
report now?
I am.
Before you go into the particulars, do vou know
Dx. Sudak?
No.
Do you know him by reputation?
No.
Have you done any research to see whether he has
written on, lectured on the topic of suicidality or
the topic of suicide?
I have not. I understand, and I can't remember where
I got this information, that he is involved in a study
of suicide assessment I think from a psychoanalytic
peoint of view.

I know that his place of practice, Pennsylvania

Hospital, is a very psychecanalytically oriented
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facility, or at least used to be. BAnd that, that was
at least part of my thinking, but I did not go soc far
as to check any of that out.

Now, what I'm going to have you do is defer talking
about the specific areas that you disagree with in

Dr. Sudak's report and the specific areas that you

our chat today.

Okay.

But cother than agreeing or disagreeing with certain
things that they have said in their reports, have you
arrived at any additional opinions other than I don't
agree with Dr. Sudak or I do agree with Dr. Morrison,
any new opinions in terms of standard of care or what
we refer to as proximate cause, meaning the ultimate
cause of Mr. Lorelli's suicide, other than those which
you have expressed in your report?

I don't think so. I would just reinforce, and I think
this is stated in the report that I wrote, that it
doesn't seem to me, based on what I know, that a
physician-patient relationship has been established.
So that seems to be one of the cusps of the issue,.

And that is based upon the assumption that Mr. Lorelli
was not evaluated, in the assumption, by Dr. Newman or

Dr. Giannini on September 4, 1298, correct?
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Correct.
And again --

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
~- if in fact Dr. Newman evaluated him, even if it
wasn't a complete evaluation, but met him and had an
opportunity to evaluate him and was provided with the
history on this patient having scheduled an
appointment to see Dr. Giannini, having called in and
being given an earlier appointment and expressing that
he was going through a life or death situation and
then Mr. Lorelli presents at some time on Ssptember
dth, whether on time, at the end of the scheduled
visit, but sufficiently enocugh that Dr. Newman and
Mr. Lorelli had an opportunity to interact, how would
that impact the opinions that you hold in this case?

MR. SHROGE: Objection.

MR. PFAU: I object. I hesitate to

have her read it back, but go ahead.
Go ahead.
I think that that's a very complicated question, but
as an expert, let me give this as a scenario, which
happens to me all the time.
At the Mental Health Center we have long waiting

lists for services. BAnd it's not at all unusual for

somebody to call me up and say I really desperately
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need to see you. And I say go through our intake
process. And they say there iz a long waiting list
and I say go through the intake process.

And that same person may show up two days later
in my waiting room. And as I'm walking ocut of my
office, they say Dr. Diamond, and we will chat for 30
seconds, a minute, two minutes.

And I wiil, are you going to be okay, here is the
crisis number, it's downstairs. I will not write a
note, send out a bill. I do not consider myself as
having taken on a fiduclary responsibility.

The gquesgtion is what constitutes the chance for a
true assessment. And I think that's the cusp of this
kRind of interaction.

If for a new patient walking out of my office
after the end of the scheduled appointment, when I
haven't had time to see him, he is in the waiting room
and I have a minute or two minutes in the midst of a
crowded day to say are you going to be ckay until our
next appointment, here is the emergency room number,
if you have a problem, give me a call, I don't think I
have done an assessment in a serious way and I don't
think I have established a doctor-patient
relationship.

Now, assume, however, that the clinician interacts
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with the patient for however long he interacts with
him and sufficient encugh toc recognize that the
patient needs to be seen and takes steps so that an
emergency appointment is scheduled after the holiday
weekend with Dr. Giannini.

Assume further that the clinician provides the
patient with 2 home telephone number, and assume
further that the clinician will testify that giving a
heme telephone number in his mind would only be given
if there was a potential emergency situation that he
was dealing with.

Assume Ffurther that the information about the
patient being, going through a life or death situation
was made known te this clinician. Assume further that
this clinician didn't have a whole waiting room of
patients waiting. In fact, the patient right before
him had cancelled the appointment ~~
What do you mean the patient right before him?

The patient right before the time that Mr. Lorelli was
scheduled to be seen cancelled his appointment, that
and there were no patients scheduled for this mental
health care provider to see anybody after the
scheduled appointment with Mr. Lorelli. Okay. So
there weren't people waiting, but this counselor had

enough concern of a potentizl emergency situation o
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give him his home telephone number, enough concern to
take steps to schedule him to be seen on an urgent
basis the following Tuesday by Dr. Giannini and twice
that next week by this counselor, would all of that
have taken place without there have been some
evaluation done by the health care provider?
MR. SHROGE: OCbjection. And,
Howard, I don't know where you are getting half of
those facts that you have just said to

Dr. Diamond, because I don't know where they are

¥

contained in the reccrds that we have to date, but
given the absolutely baseless facts in that
assumption, I'm going to object.

MR. MISHKIND: Well, let me say
something. Number one, your statement baseless I
object to.

These are statements of fact bésed
upon testimony in the case and this is based upon
a number of facts, so it's a hypothetical.

If I'm wrong, Michael, then may I
be stricken by lightning for giving such a poor,
baseless hypothetical, but I'm asking given the
fact that we have such a paucity of records
maintained by the defendants in the case, we are

recreating this based upon inferences and based
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upen facts that have been derived in discovery.
So my hypothetical is based upon
the encounter taking place —-
Let me -- again, I get accosted in all kinds of ways
by people in various kinds of distress. BAnd at some
peint I sit down with them and I take on
responsibility as a physician and they take on the
role of a patient.

And until that interaction happens, I may have
varicus kinds of moral responsibility, but I don't
have a fiduciary relationship.

And somebody that I'm talking to for a couple of
minutes in the hall, or on the phone, or in a meeting
or in a variety of ways in which I personally meet
peocple who are in significant distress and at some
various kinds of risk situations, I may try and get
them an earlier appointment. I may give them phone
numbers. I may be guite concerned about them.

The question is at what point are they my
patient. And that's, that's the cusp of what you are
trying to deal.

I personally think they are my patient when I
have had a chance to sit down with them and to do what
I think is a clinically appropriate assessment, which

is not a two-minute interaction in a hallway, if in

48

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LID.




o oW < o W N

-t
QO

12
13
14
is
i6
17
is
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

o P o0 P

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

fact that's what the occurrence is.
Would you give someone that’s coming in, that you are
seaing for the very first time, that you do a cursory
assessment, whether it's in the office, whethexr it's
in the hallway, your home telephone number?
Would I or would some people?
Would you?
Would I?
Yes,
No, T would not, but that doesn’'t mean that otherxr
peopls would not.
No. My question was would you, Dr. Diamond, give vour
home telephone number to someone that you are meeting
for the first time that was scheduied to be seen by
you ==
On the other hand, I do give my card in situations and
it has my E-mail. So people will use my personal
E-mail in exactly that situation, not my phone.
My cquestion was specifically the phone number.
I understand. I'm just saying that in the short
answer, the answer is no, I would not give my home
phone number, but then I hate talking on telephones.
All right. Let's go back to —-

MR. SHROGE: BAnd, Howard, because I

know there is a little bit of a delay here with
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the speaker phone, I'm just going to object to the
last question you asked assuming that that
incorporated the previocus three or four questions
just because your first question said that
Dr. Newnman did a cursory assessment of
Mr. Loxelli. So as to that, I don't know how you
have established that, but that's why I'm
objecting again.
All right. Ezxhibit 2 is a letter from Mr. Pfau to you
dated March 12th. I actually have this, so you are
not going to be able to find it very guickly.
Oh, ockay.
MR. PFAU: Do you want me to give
the doctor a copy?
MR. MISHXIND: Sure.
And again, he's asked you to assume certain facts for
the benefit of your opinions, correct?
Correct.
Cne is that Mr. Lorelli was a patient of
Pr. Giannini's seen only in '82 and '83?
Correct.
And were you able to confirm that when you looked at
any of the information that was provided to you?

I don't remembasr where information came from. I bhased

my report based on these assumptions.
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But I'm asking because you have also been provided
with a number of items, including some records from

. . . s v . . e
Dr. Giannini's cffice, which I believe is in the stack

Yas.

MR. PFAU: I think so.
Right.

MR. PFAU: I think those old

records are in there.

You have alsc been provided with his deposition and
Dy, WNewman's depo?
I think I have records from those wvisits, but I can't
remember where the scurce of information came.
Now, the next nete or the next assumption was sometine
arcound September 1, '88 Mr. Lorelli called
Dr. Giannini's office and related the information
reflected in the note made by Kathy Ludt.

And the note is the note that we have been
talking about. It says "Going through bad time, life
or death situation,” and then the next line 79, B80.
Then it goes on to say "just wants meds." It says
doesn't, "don't need counseling, need something for
sleep or anxiety." You are familiar with that note?
Yes.

And this assumption goes on to say that Kathy Ludt

4]
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scheduled Mr. Lorelli for an appointment with

Dr. Giannini for September 24th, 1998 and also for an
appointment with Dr. Newman September 4, 1998 at

1:30 p.m., correct?

Correct.

Now, in this assumption it appears that Mr. Pfau is

asking you to assume that there was one telephona call
made by Mr. Lorelli and it was sometime around
September lst, and based upon that telephone call, she
was, Kathy Ludt gave Mr. Lorelli a September 24th
appointment and gave Mr, Lorslli an appointment with
Dr. Hewman for September 4th all on that September ist
interacticn, correct?

Correct.

Do you know whether that assumpticon is based on any
fact or foundation based upon the testimony and the
evidence in this case?

There is several different interpretations. And it's
possible that the appointment with Dr. Newman was
based on a subsequent phone call. It’'s hard to quite
disentangle this.

In this assumption letter, Mr. Pfau doesn't say
anything to you about a subsequent telephone call,

does he?

Ho.
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He doesn't ask you to assume that in the set of Ffacts,
corract?
Correct.
And you didn't assume that in the set of facts for
purposes of your opinion, correct?
Correct.
Now, Mr. Pfau asked you to assume that Mr. Lorelli 4did
not show for the September 4 appointment. And do you
know for a fact in this case whether or not
Mr. Lorelli did show for his September 4th appointment
with Dr. Hewman?
It seems like there is mixed date zbout that.
One side of the data would suggest what?
That evidently his family or friends attested that he
showed and he was given a home phone number, which
seems like that assumes some kind of contact.

On the other side, there was no entry note and no
bill generated, which suggests that it wasn't what I
would call a "real" appointment where you would have a
chance to sit down and do an initial assessment.
Do you know how Mr. Lorelli obtained the cards that
were presented? For sake of time --
No.
-= have vou seen those exhibits which were the

scheduling cards?
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No.
You haven't seen those?
MR. PFAU: They might be attached
to one of the depositions he has.
MR. MISHKIND: Yeah, they probably

are.
Have you seen Dr. Newman's calendar for September 4th?
I don't believe so.

(Counsel examines document)

If so, I don't remember.
I'm jﬁsthgaiaq to sort of hold this up for you.
I did noé gseae ~—- I have not seen that,
Ckay. And the reference that I made before there was,
he had four patients, one right before Mr. Lorelli was
a Vince, last name redacted for confidentiality
purposes, with a C next to it.

And what is your understanding on scheduling what
a C means next to a patient's name?
It could be cancelled.
Based upon the language that’s used in this case, did
you in fact learn that C does mean cancelled?
I did not see the schedule or discuss this until this
moment.
And I take it your review of the deposition testimony

wasn't detailed enough for you to be able teo say what
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any particular witness said in their depositions?
That's correct.
You have not been provided with any of the depositions
of any of the family members of Mr. Lorelli, have you?
No.
Hor any of the non-family members that have testified
in this case, correct?
Oniy one of the office staff.
I'm sorry. Any of the non-family members that were
identified by plaintiffs' counsel in this case?
No.
So you don't know even the names of those pesople?
Ho.
You don't know what they testified to in deposition?
No.
And you didn't take those facts into account in
arriving at any of the assumptions that you have
reached?
No.

{Counsel examines document)
Mr. Pfau asked you further to assume that Mr. Lorelli
had some contact with the office staff at some time
and was scheduled for appointments with Dr. Giannini
and Dr. Newman September 8th, September 10th

respectively. And you assume those facts, correct?
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It's confusing, but I assume these facts.

Do you know when Mr. Pfau wanted you to assume that
Mr. Lorelli made that contact and cbtained those two
appointment dates?

The time chronclogy of all of this was quite confusing
to me.

And what wonld have a2liminated the confusion in vour
review of this case? What information would you have
liked to have had to wipe ocut the confusion?

It would have been nice if every phone contact had
bean dooumentead with 2 nice date and time and a2 alear
rendition of what happened. That would have baan
nice.

Would there have been anything else that you would
have needed to have eliminated the confusion in this
case so that either assumptions didn't need to be made
or you weren't even confused by the assumptions that
you were asked to make?

An accurate dated office record is what comes to
mind. There may be other things, but they are not
immediately.

Both of those items would be generated by

Dr. Giannini's office, true?

Correct.

MR. MISHKIND: Off the record for

(93]
o

PROFESSIONAT, REPORTERS, LTD.




-t

[¢4] (%}

- O U

o oW

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

w0

0 o 0 P

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

one second.
{(Discussion off the record)
In your file I see that there is zat least cne E-mail
communication between you and Mr. Pfau. I think it
has to do with scheduling your trial testimony?
Yes.

Did yvou have any other o

Mr. Pfau by
way of E-mail?

I can tell you there was nothing material. I can't
tell you if there was not some back and forth. And I

did not lool

1

at my home computer bto pull that off if I
did.

Do you have with you today everything, even scribbled
notes, on when you were first contacted by Mr. PBfau
that constitutes your file?

There may be some notes of contact in my computer that
I did not think to pull off. I don't think so, but
there may have been some E-mail communication back and
forth. If so, I did not bring them with me.

How long ago was it -- strike that. Did you in fact
read from cover to cover Dr. Giannini's deposition?

I didn't read every line of it.

Did you read every other line?

I read every other line. I got the --

Did you just sort of peruse through?
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I just sort of perused.

8o you are not able to tell me, for example, what
pages youn concentrated on?

No.

You didn't make any notes when you perused it,
correct?

No. I was not asked about the specific facts of the
case.

Do you know why yvou were provided with these
depositions if you weren't asked to comment or take
inte account the specific facts of thig caze?

In my very limited experience with attorneys, I get
big piles of stuff and T never know how much of it I'm
supposed to read. This just fits.

Fits with lawyers?

With lawyers.

Ckay. But as to why you were provided this
information when you were asked to assume certain
facts, you don't know?

I did read it as background. I did not go through
taking detailed notes, which is what I would have done
had I been expected to testify from the deposition or
about the facts of the deposition.

Would the same thing apply with regard to Dr. Newman's

deposition?
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Yes.

So if T asked you to tell me whether you agree or
disagree with what Dr. Newman said in any given point
in the deposition -~

I would need to reread the deposition at that point.
You would not.be able to from memory tell me whether
or not yvou agree or disagrea?

Correct.

Same thing with Dr. Giannini?

Correat.
Let's divert for a moment and we will then jump back
inte the substance of your opinions. I want teo talk

now about, since you brought it up, lawyers, and that
is, a little bit about your experience in the
medical~legal area.

MR. PFAU: Howard, can I just
clarify one thing. I don't know if the doctor has
in his file materials what would be my original
letter to him.

MR. MISHKIND: I think he does.

MR. PFAU: It would have come
before my letter with the assumptions. As long as
you are aware of that.

MR. MISEKIND: Yeah.

MR. PFAU: CQCkay.
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In fact, Doctor, there is a letter where you were sent
material from Mr. Pfau, correct?
Yes.
And the date of that letter is?
I'm looking for the letter.
{Witness examines document)

I should be more organized.
That's all right.

MR. PFAU: I didn't even bring it.

{(Witness examines documents)

Evidently my first phone contact I bkelisve was March
6th. That is not true. I have a contact from
February 18th.
That was a -- is that a phone siip?
No, that's the initial letter.
That's the one. If you grab that for a second,
February 18th. And what material was sent to you in
the February 18th -
Deposition of Dr. Giannini, deposition of Dr. Newman,
deposition of Rachel Bowman, deposition of Kathy Marie
Ludt and the coroner's findings.
And then it was followed some weeks later with the
March 12th letter that you were asked to assume
certain facts?

Yes.
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And then six days later you generated your report
which we have marked as an exhibit, true?
Yes.
And is it fair to say that in generating thé report
for purposes of the opinion, that you were relying
from a factual basis on the assumptions that Mr. Pfau
gave to you in the March 12th letter as opposed teo the
review in detail of the depositions that accompanied
his original letter?
That is correct.
Do you know as you sit here righ
yvou have put in on this case?
I have a billing in here someplace.

(Witness examines documents)
I do not know. I can tell you to the point of -- no,
I do not know.
Do you know how Mr. Pfau obtained your name?
I assume it was through another malpractice case that
I was involved in that was handled through I believe
his office.
And how long before this case.was that case?
It was earlier the same vear.
So being contacted in February of 2003 --
We had just finished up the other case I believe or

were in the middle of the other case, which settled.
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But you were an expert on behalf of an attorney in
My, Pfau's office?
Yes.
Was that a psychiatric malpractice case?
Yes.
Who was the defendant in that case?
Is that public?
It is.
Charles Schultz.
Was your deposition taken in that case?
No .
Charles Schultz is a psychiatrist?
Yes.
And you were appearing as the expert on his behalf?
Yes.
I take it you wrote a report in that casge?
I did.
Do you recall who the attorney was on the other side,
the plaintiff's attorney?
No.
I would have been surprised, considering your
deposition wasn't taken, if you did remember it, but
gsometimes those things happen.
Beside the Schultz case, had you worked with

Mr. Pfau'’s office on any other occasion?
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A No.

Q Who was it from Mr. Pfau's office that you worked with
on the Schultz case?

MR. PFAU: I'm not sure it was my
office.

THE WITNESS: It wasn't your
office.

MR. PFAU: But I may have gotten
you through that case.

A I think there was a connection, but I don't remember
what the connection was. It was not Mr., Pfau's
office. I'm sorxxy if I misstated that.

Q With the reference that Bill just made that he doesn’'t
think it was your office, does that cause you to think
twice and come up with scmeone else that might have
retained you besides Mr. Pfau or his office?

A There was another attorney. I can remember the case.
I can tell you the details of the case. T can't
remember the name of the attorney.

Q@ Was it a suicide case?

Yes.

Q And in that case did you testify or was it your
opinion that Dr. Schultz complied with the standard of
care?

A Yeas.
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And that his conduct was not a proximate cause of the

patient’s suicide?

That was my testimony.

And again that was your written testimony?
Written testimony.

You never testified in court?

No.

Are there any other cases that you have served as an

expert in the State of Ohioc other than the case with

Dr. Schultz and now the Giannini case?

|

have written a report on one other case.

And who was the —— I take it it was a psychiaztrist?

MR, PFAU: If I might interject and

object. T don't know the status of that case. If

that's a case where the dcctor has not been

disclosed as a witness --

MR. MISHKIND: I will take it step

by step.

MR. PFAU: ~~ I don't think that

he's, it's appropriate for him to disclose it,

MR. MISHKIND: I will take it step

by step. I don't disagree with you.
MR. PFAU: Okay. Fair enough.
We are now talking about the third case in Ohio.

this before the Schultz ~-
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I+ was after.

Aft

in?

er, Is this a case that you are currentiy involved

Yes.

And have you written a repoxrt in that case?

Yes.

Haw

sid

e you provided it to the attorney on the other

e, I mean the attorney that you have --

Yas.

The

other side, the other side of the country here?

Yes.

BHas

No.

Is

No.

your deposition been taken in that case?

that case a suicide case?

What's the subject matter of that case?

Is

No.

Do

No.

MR. PFAU: Howard, I don't think
that the doctor should testify regarding any
specifics of another case unless it's been
established that he has been disclosed as an
expert in the case.

your deposition scheduled to be taken in that case?

you know whether the case is set for trial?
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What I would like you to do --
It was not a suicide case if that helps.
Okay. Well, it helps just a little bit,
MR. PFAU: Do you want to explain
the concern to the doctor or do you want me to?
MR. MISHEKIND: No, I will.
What I would like you to do is I would like you to
check with the attorney that has hired you and find
out whether or not vou have been disclosed as an
expert to plaintiff's. I presume that vou have been
retained by the defense?
In that case, ves.
Check with this lawyer, I'm not aven going tc ask you
the name of the lawyer, but check with him, then let
Mr. Pfau now whether or not this is a case that you
have been disclosed as an expert that is likely to be
called at trial.

If you have just been consulted and there iz no
intent to have you identified as a trial witness, then
I'm not entitled to that information at this
particular time. Okay?

Okay .
Will you remember all these things, because I'm
terrible at remembering?

MR. PFAU: Well, I don't know if
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it's the doctor's burden to, but one of us has to

remember it, Howard.

note.
MR. PFAU: Just so you understand,
Doctor, it might be inappropriate for you to
disclose that relationsghip and information if your
name is not ultimately released by that lawyer.
THE WITNESS: I understand.
MR. MISHEKIND: That's what I just
said,
THE WITNESS: I understand.
S8c there are three cases thét you have reviewed
matters in the State of Chio?
Yes.
Have you reviewed medical malpractice cases in any
other states besides Ohio?
In the last five vears I have reviewed one other case.
And where was that case venued?
It did not go forward after my review and discussion
with the attorney. A report was never written.
And I cannot tell you what state. I could loock
it up, but I do not know.
Do you have a record of cases that you have reviewed?

Yes. We have just completed the entire set of cases I
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reviewed in the last five years.

And what you are telling me is that there are four
cages that you have reviewed in the last five years?
Uh~huh.

Is that a yes?

Yes.

In the medical malpractice area?

Ies.

Are there any other areas that yvou have served as an
expert witness in in the last five years other than in
medical malpractice cases?

Yas.

What type of cases?

I'm currently involved in a patent law case as an
expert witness.

Where is that case pending, what state?

Isn't patent law typically federal?

It is. 1Is there an attorney in a particular state
that you are working with?

Yes.

Where is that lawyer?

The attorney is from Wisconsin.

That has nothing to do with issues of standard of
care?

No.
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Has your deposition been taken in that case?

Nc.

Let me ask you, maybe to streamline things, beside
this case, how many times has your deposition been
taken in a medical malpractice case in your career?

I was involved as a defendant for my system, although
I was nct named, in one occasion. That was I balisve
about five years ago.

You were named as -~

I was not named but my system, my mental health center
wag sued, and I was, I gave testimony as part of that
suit.

What svstem was that?

The Mental Health Center of Dane County.

Is that the system that you are still involved with?
Yas.

Who was the plaintiff in that case? That is public
knowledge if your deposition was taken.

The plaintiff was a man who exsanguinated in jail. I
don't remember his name. I could look it up easily
enough.

Is that on a record also that you have?

{Indicating) .

That's a yes?

Yes.

&
\s)
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I would ask you to do that. So you have been deposed
once in connection with the county health clinic or --
Uh~huhb.

We are taking your deposition today in a case where
you are identified as an expert witness for a doctor.
Other than those two occasions in the medical
malpractice area, has vour deposition ever been taken
before?

No.

The case that wrapped up that you thought was with
Mr. Pfau's office, your deposition was not taken?
No.

So this is the first time then that you have bheen
deposed as an expert on defending a doctor in
deposition?

Yes.

Have you ever testified at trial‘in any, at any time
whether it's medical malpractice or otherwise?

I have testified a number of times in commitment
hearings which are quasi-trials and in class action
hearings. Those were more than a decade ago I
believe.

Do you currently review cases for attorneys?

On rare occasions.

How many cases a year do you review?
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Four cases this year.

And obviously we have got the one that you thought
was -~ well, actually now four new cases?

No, I have just teld you all the cases that =-- there
is one case that I reviewed that I said did not go
anywhere and the other three that we have already
discussed and that's my entire experience with
malpractice.

Throughout your entire career?

I reviewed one, oh, more than five yvears ago, wrote a
report, did not go -- they sstitled afier the report.
That was well, more than five years age, and I'm not
even sure I have a copy of the report.

Have you ever written a report where you were
providing testimony critical of a psychiatrist?

I was ésked to review a case critical of a
psychiatrist. I had a long discussion with the
potential plaintiff attorney and the decision was made
not to go forward with the case.

Because you basically told him that you couldn't
support the claim of substandard care on the part of
the psychiatrist, correct?

Correct.

Have you ever gone on reccrd either by way of report,

or deposition or statement to an attorney without
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writing a report that you would be willing to support
a claim by a patient or a family of a patient against
a psychiatxist?
No. Other cases have been brought to my attention. I
have been involved in sanctions against psychiatrists,
but not in the malpractice area.
Is that through the mental health board?
There is a way that the state reviews death reports
and there is currently a case pending which review is
not yet completed. We are concerned about the care
provided by the psychiatrist. That iz still pending.
MR. PFAU: Howard, T object to voux
previous gquestion just because I think it was
ambiguous. I think the doctor and you both
understood it, but to me it was ambigucus as to
whether you were asking him whether he had ever in
a specific case said he would testify adverse to a
physician or whether as a matter of policy --
MR. MISHKIND: ©No, no, no, I didn't
say, I didn't ask him as a matter of policy.
MR. PFAU: I know you didn't say,
I'm saying your question was ambiguous.
MR. MISHKIND: No, it wasn't. It
wasn't ambiguous. You want to make it ambiquous,

I asked him whether ox not -~- Bill,
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just object. I mean, don't make speeches.
I asked you a very specific question and you -~
My entire malpractice experience in the last five
years has been four cases, one plaintiff, three
defense. The plaintiff case did not go forward. The
three defense cases went to various stages. This is
my first --
Deposition?
-- deposition.
And simply put, the plaintiff’'s case that you locked
at, vou didn't find that there was evidence of
malpractice?
That is true.
Can we agree, based upon your review in this case of
the information, that Mr. Lorelli called sometime end
of August, early September seeking an appointment to
see Dr. Giannini?
That seems to be the case.
He did not call seeking to see Dr. Newman, true?
As far as I can tell, that seems to be the case.
And in fact, Dr. Newman, or Mr. Lorelli was assigned
to Dr. Newman by some process controlled by
Dr. Giannini's office, correct?
That is correct. Again, just to add, if you tried to

see me at the Mental Health Center, the intake

73

PROFESSIONAL REPORTERS, LTD.




N

w

L ¢ I T & -

0

@)

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

appointment would never be with a psychiatrist. It

would be with --

I'm not suggesting that there is anvthing wrong with
gg g

that. I'm Jjust asking whether or not we can agree on

certain ~-

That seems to be the case.
-- basic facts. Do you know
involvement Dr. Giannini had
to gee Mr. Lorelli?

Fo.

Do vou know what involvsment

in this case what

in assigning Dr. Newman

the smployses of

Dr. Giannini had in assigning Dr. Newman?

No.

Do you know whether Dr. Newman was in fact an employee

of Dr. Giannini®?

My understanding is that's under contention.

And based upon statements made by Dr. Newman in his

deposition, do you know whether or not he is of the

mind that he was an employee

of Dr. Giannini?

MR. SHROGE: Objection.

Go ahead. The objection again is for the record.

I would want to go back. I read through that

section. It seemed to be confusing and there seemed

to be disagreement about it.

I would want to reresad

it before I gave testimony to that.
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So as you sit here right now, you are unclear in your
mind as to whether or not Dr. Newman --
Was an employee or an independent practitioner,
independent contractor.
Okay. Do you know whether or not Dr. Newman saw
patients of Dr. Giannini's independently or under
Dr. Giannini's supervision?
Again I would want to review the testimony before I
answered that. I don't remember.
Okay. And again -~
I remember there was & whole discussion baak and forth
and back and forth and I did not take notes on that.
And again, Doctor, understand, I recognize that you
have not testified a lot, but the purpose of the
depesition 1s in part tec test your knowledge of the
underlying facts that correlate or go along with this
case. So that's why I'm asking you specific facts as
it relates to these issues in the case.
The issue, quite honestly, as somebody who typically
does one's homework, I did not go through and get a
detailed understanding of all the facts because it
seemed to me, even after reading through it, the facts
were pretty confusing and difficult to disentangle.

I was asked to give expert witness on assuming

various facts, was that, would that meet standard of
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care. And so the determination of facts seems to be
at some other part of this determination.
And the consideration of all of the facts that have
been gathered by the lawyers in the depositions was
not substantially relevant to vou as it relates to
your opinions in this case?
As I understood it.
Is it fair to say then that you do not know as a fact
in this case whether or not Dr. Newman was operating
under the contrel of Dr. Giannini's corporation?

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
Go ahead. Again the objection is for the recoxd.
It seems to me that that's an area of disagreement
between the various parties. I certainly do not know
as an area of fact.
Okay. What hospitals do you practice at?
I have active privileges at University of Wisconsin
Hospital. I have courtesy privileges at St. Marys and
Meriter. I also have courtesy privileges at the VA
Hospital.
You have not been personally sued --
No.
-—- in a malpractice case?
Please.

The other expert for the codefendant in thig case,
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Dr. Elizabeth Morrison, do you know her?
No.
Do you know anything about her reputation?
No.
I have brought with me a check today for $300, which I
was told was your hourly charge for deposition.
That is my hourly charge.
And what is your hourly charge for review of records?
$300 an hour.
When you come to Youngstown to testify in January,
what wilil be your charge to come?
5300 an hour.
Plus I presume costs of transportation?
We will make, I assume, some full-day arrangements for
my time out of the office.

{Counsel examines document)
I take it, Doctor, that you have never had your
privileges suspended, revoked or called into question?
No.
Have you ever applied for privileges at a hospital and
been denied?
Neo.
Have you ever made your name available to any services
that provide consultation to lawyers to provide

experts?
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No.
Have you ever advertised that you are willing to serve
as an expert?
No.
I suspected that that was going to be your answer, but
I don't want to assume anything.

MR. PFAU: If he has, he's not

getting his money's worth.
That's right. Even though there have been assumptions
made in this case, I don't want to assume anything
when I take vour depositiocn. Ckay?
I'm basically a clinician and a clinical teacher.
I hear you.
{Counsel examines document)

Back to some specifics on this case, okay?
Yup.
What time was Mr. Lorelli's appointment scheduled for
on September 4 in 19987
I believe it was scheduled for about 1:30.
And I think we can agree that you are not able to
state as a fact that Mr. Lorelli did not come to the
psychiatric clinic on September 4, 1998, correct?
I don't believe anybody can testify to that. What we
know is that nc note was generated and no billing was

generated.
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The fact that no note was generated and no billing was
generated doesn't prove that the patient was not seen
on September 4, 1898, true?
It doesn't prove it.
Okay.
It does make less likely as significant what I call
clinical contact.
I understand that, but simpiy because there is no note
and no billing for that visit isn't a basis for you to
say therefore Mr. Lorelli was not seen -—
Nope.
-~ and evaluated?
That's true.
Can we agree that if Mr. Lorelli did show for his
appointment as scheduled and was seen by Dr. Newman,
there should be a record made or should have been a
record made by Dr. Newman of his assessment?
Correct.

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
And if in fact Mr. Lorelli did show for his
appointment and was seen by Dr. Newman for that
appointment and there was no note generated from that
visit, that appocintment, that would be below the
standard of care, correct?

MER. SHROGE: Objection.
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It would be a real concern. I guess it would be below
the standard of care.

Tell me in general why it's important to write notes
when a patient is seen, especially for the first time,
by a clinician in a psychiatric office.

Well, you are collecting an initial database that you
will then subsequently use to refer back to. If there
is a problem, especially in a situation of shared
practices such as this, yvou will want to refer to the
information gathered by the other person.

Certainly if there iz =2n emergensy, vou want
that. You want to be able to document what vou
yourself have done in case there is a disaster such as
this.

And finally, none of us have perfect memory, so
going back and looking at how we reconstruct
information over time is often useful. 8ix months
later I might have a very different perception and
going back to my initial note when I didn't know the
person often is quite revealing.

{Discussion off the record)
Tell me what your understanding is of Mr. Lorelli's
psychiatric history.
I understand that he had a bipeclar disorder that had

been treated many years before with medication, don't
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know anything about how he had functioned or had been
treated in the intervening years, and called up
basically saying he needed toc get back on medication,
that he was not sleeping.

Do you know whether or not he had on any occasion
evidenced any suicidal thoughts or suicidal ideations
during the course of his psychiatric history?

I have a recollection, but I can't tell you the basis
of that, that he had expressed some suicidal ideation
or feelings in his initial periocd of treatment.

Do you know what was the triggering svent for those
suicidal thoughts?

I do not remember that.

Can you tell me whether or not there were any
significant events in Mr. Lorelli's life that caused
him to be hospitalized for psychiatric care at any
time with the exception of -~ well, let me just leave
it, cross out with the exception of.

Do you know whether there were any occasions,
significant events in his life where he was
hospitalized for psychiatric care?

I don't remember.
What's the difference between bipolar I disorder and a

bipeclar II disorder?

A Bipolar I disorder, during the highs or manic periods,
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the person typically becomes psychotic or severely
dysfunctional. Bipolar II, the high pericds are
typically hypomanic where the person may have certain
problems with impulse control, certainly be
symptomatic, but not to the same extent.

In both cases the depressions can be equally
serious and severe,

Is it clinically significant to evaluate a patient as
to whether they are bipolar I or bipolar II?

It's useful in terms of the risk of people getting
inte serious trouble while they are high. If somebody
has a history of only bipolar II disorder, then one
doesn't need to jump on an incipient manic episode
quite as aggressively because that's not typically
going to give the person difficulty.

If somebody has a history of becoming very
psychotic or really very out of control during the
manic episodes, then one needs to attend to that in a
different way. So to that extent, past history of the
nature of the manic episodes or hypomanic episodes is
useful.

Based upon your review of the facts and material in
this case, can you tell me whether or not Mr. Lorelli

fits the profile of a bipolar I or bipolar II discorder

patient?
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I cannot.

MR. SHROGE: Howard, I didn't hear
that last guestion.

MR. MISHKIND: I said based upon
his review of the facts in this case, can he tell
me whether or neot Mr. Lorelli fits the profile of
a bipolar I disorder or a bipelar II discrder.

MR. SHROGE: When?

MR. MISHKIND: At any time during
his psychiatric historv.

MR. SHROGE: Inciuding the events
of Newman and Giannini's office that we're talking
about?

MR. MISHKIND: Well, I'm including
that as well.

MR. SHROGE: OQkay. Objection.

And the answer?

I have very little clinical information about the
deceased, so I really cannot talk about any of that.
Tell me what the common risk factors are -- I'm
segueing into a different area now for the moment.

I'm sort of giving you some highlights to let you know
when I'm making a right or a left turn.

Yeah. Well, the common risk factor for anybody with

bipolar disorder is of course suicide. Something in

[+¢]
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excess of 10 percent of people with bipolar disorder
will kill them self, eight to 12 percent in different
studies. And so that has to be taken as the most
serious risk.

You also have the risk during manic episodes that
people can really destroy their lives through criminal
behavior, through destroying relationships, through
other kinds of mayhem.

You also have a significant problem with comorbid
substance abuse. You can imagine if you have these
higzhs and lows, people will szelf-medicate often with
alcohol as a common kind of problem.

People often have a lot of life instability and
often have significant problems adhering to treatment
that would help stabilize their lives.

A little bit of a different question as a follow-up,
but tell me in your experience what are the common
risk factors that are correlated with a greater
likelihood of suicide risk?

Again, I always have a problem citing risk factors and
thinking that one knows something. So I can give you
some of them, but that's not something you can just
check off.

Certainly having a comorbid substance abuse

history, having a family member who killed them self,
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being male, being older, being alone, that is, not in
& relationship, not married, having concomitant
medical problems are all the kinds of things that one
would worry about.
Is being parancid, is that also a risk factoxr?
I'm not aware that in a significant way that's
associated with suicide.
Are homophobia or fear of or concern about being a
homesexual, are those, is that a risk factor as well
for suicide?
Therse are a huge number of differasnt correlational
studies. BAnd I'm sure that there is a study that
shows there is some association between all of these
things and suicide, but as one of the things that
comes up repeatedly in multiple studies, I'm not aware
that that's a factor.
Would you agree that there are risk factors that if
seen in a mental health environment should cause a
mental health care provider to be concerned that a
patient might attempt to commit suicide?

MR. PFAU: Objection.
Might attempt is a very strange word. Most of the
people that I see in this office are at some potential
risk for suicide and might in fact kill them self.

One of the problems with having a check-off

B85
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system is you are trying to figure out in this might
attempt gradations and what to do about them. I will
be glad to listen to the list, but almost anything you
put there is going to add to the might attempt.
Your answer is an excellent answer to perhaps a poorly
worded question. There are certain risk factors as
wall as c¢linical findings and history that if
presented to a mental health care provider should
create an index of concern that the patient is at risk
of attempting harm to himself or to others, correct?
Sure.

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
And depending upon what those, that clinical history
is, the presenting psychiatric evaluation, as well as
the risk factors, one would increase or decrease their
index of concern as to whether the patient has an
imminent potential for causing harm to himself or to
others, correct?
True.
It's the mental health care provider's responsibility
to take into account, in doing their physical, their
psychiatric assessment, the risk factors, the history
on the patient, as well as the current events that the
patient is going through in determining whether or not

the patient presents with a risk of attempting
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suicide?

Correct. Let me reword that. Again, it's not
presents with a risk, presents wi
risk.

Almost everybody I see, large numbers, present
with some risk. So we are not talking between yes and
no, We are talking zbhout on a continvum where you are
and how that's moving.

Sure. And a patient that presents in a crisis
situation that you would objectively define as being a
life threatening or potentially life~threatening
situation, that would certainly increase vour index of
concern that the patient iz at substantizl risk of
attempting suicide?

Sure.

There are steps, are there not, Doctor, as a
psychiatrist that you can take in a patient that is at
substantial risk of committing suicide to reduce the
likelihood of the patient causing himself harm or
death, true?

Yes.

And what are some of those steps that you can take if
you foresee that the patient is at risk, at

substantial risk of attempting to commit suicide?

Well, yvou can intervene clinically. You can hear the
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person out. You can try and do problem solving.

You can involve more of the person's support
system. You can involve their family. You can try
and engender hope.

You can sometimes start medication, which
pharmacologically is not going to do anything for the
immediate crisis because they take time tc work, but
just the idea that there may be hope for the future
can help. There are a whole variety of clinical steps
that you can take.

If you zre asking what yvou can take if the pevson
is not amenable to those clinical steps, what

involuntary treatment can be imposed on somebody, is

that the question?

Well, that's part of the guestion, but you are
answering it fine.

At the extreme end, you can certainly hospitalize
somebody voluntarily, which, depending on the
situation, may help and may actually make things
worse. So it's not an automatic response.

But in the extreme case, if somebody is
imminently suicidal and has done recent acts
suggesting that they are at risk, you can invoke an
emergency detention, which in Wisconsin requires

involvement of legal authority, law enforcement.
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They actually file the fifth standard and they have to
be the ones convinced that there is imminent risk.

As an aside, in your report you indicated that records
only need to be kept for seven years?

I believe that's the legal standard.

And where is that legal standard memorialized?

You know, I don't know, but we had this discussiocn at
the Mental Health Center of Dane County where we ars
being pushed out of our building because of records
and they are now destroying older records of closed
clients.

And at that peint, not being the perscon whe runs
the record room, but being part of the senior
administration, I was told that somebody looked it up
and that seven years is the legal standard in
Wisconsin.

Do you know what the legal standard is in Ohio for
record retention?

No, I do not.

We can agree, I think you told me this before, that
suicide is certainly a significant -- strike that.

Can we agree that suicide is the number one cause of
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premature death among people with manic depressive
illnesses?
Yes.
And can we agree that extreme depression and psychosis
can result from a lack of treatment of a patient that
has bipolar affective disorder?

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
It's a funny wording for a gquestion. Treatment can
certainly help people decrease the frequency and
intensity of their depression. That's not exactly the
zame guestion vou asked.
Well, lack of treatment?
Can make things worse.
Yes.
Yes,.
So extreme depression and psychosis can result due to
a lack of treatment --
Yes.
-~ in a patient that has a bipoclar =--
It's a strange wording, but yes.
I told you that not all my questions are artful. What
psychiatric journals do you subscribe to?
American Journal of Psychiatry Archives, Psychiatric
Services, Journal of Clinical Psychiatry and a whole

bunch of newsletter type things.
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Have you reviewed any literature at all in ceonnection
with this case?

Ne.

If you wanted to find articles or book chapters that
you felt to be generally good sources and reliable on
the topic of suicidality or the measures to take in
psychiatric evaluation and prevention of suicide,
where would you look?

I would take up Shawn Shea's bock on suicide, which I
think is the best treatise on the subject, S-h-e-a.
S=hwa-=a.

Any of his clinical articles or his book, and they are
readily found on MEDLINE,

And you consider him to be an authority in the area of
suicidality®?

I teach from his material.

That's a good endorsement. So 1 would take it the
answer to my question is yes?

Yes.

And the book and the journal articles that he's
written on suicidality you consider to be reasonable
sources of information on the topic?

Yes.

Authoritative in the area?

Yas.
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Are you aware of any specific guidelines or standards
that have been published with regard to evaluation of
patients for risk factors for committing suicide?
There are many different standards. The problem is
when the subsequent research has been done, some of
the proposed standards in fact are not very good at
predicting suicide. 2And so it gets complicated,
depending on which standard you are looking at, how to
make sense of them clinically.
Are there any written standards that you consider to
be applicable and generally followed in the
psychiatric community today?
I don't think there is actually any one standard. The
one that I happen to like and that I teach is one
that's promulgated by this guy Shea in his writing,
which is a way to clinically investigate suicidality
rather than a check-off of just risk factors. I would
be glad to give you an hour treatise on how you do
that if you'd like.
At $300 an hour, T will pass.

MR. PFAU: That's probably a

bargain.
MR. MISHKIND: That's true.

{(Counsel examines document)

Q¢ Have you ever had a patient of vours commit suicide?
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A Yes.

How many?

I get more or less involved with different people
because of my consulting arrangement, so it depends on
how you count.

I can remember quite graphically the first
patient of mine who ever killed himself, which is now
more than 20 years ago. And I continue to have some
contact with his parents.

I'm not exactly sure of the number, but there
have probably been 10 people that I have been
associated with, There have been at least four that I
was clearly associated with as a2 primary therapist.
After the deaths took place, were there steps that you
professionally said that you should have taken to have
reduced the risk of that patient committing suicide?

MR. PFAU: Objection.
You always do a certain amount of soul-searching and
review and what could I have done different and if
only I had done that different. I think that's part
of the process.

Looking back in the cases that I have reviewed,
did I come up with major errors that, going forward

rather than looking back, I would have done different,

no.,

gy
Lad
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Were any of those patients outpatients or were they --
They were all out. Well, actually one patient, I
didn't even think of, killed herself on a locked unit
at University Hospital on suicide precautions.
University Hospital where?
Here.
QOkay. Here in Madison?
That was a long time ago. The others were all in the
community.
While suicide can happen without errors being made by
the psychiatrist, can we also agree that the risk of
suicide can be, the potential of the patient
committing suicide can be reduced by the psychiatrist
providing ordinary and reasonable care for the
patient?
We hope. That's why we are here.
But that's a true statement, correct?
That's true.
You can't prevent all of them, reasonable care in
terms of appreciating that a patient is at risk of
committing suicide and taking precautions because you
foresee the potential of them committing suicide can
reduce the risk of suicide happening?

MR. SHROGE: Obdjection.

Again you are getting into complicated areas. The

54
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first time you said it I agreed with it, which is
appropriate treatment can decrease the risk, decrease
suicides. You edged into something else.

Because I'm dealing all the time with people of
varying degrees of potential, and if my primary job is
to always eliminate suicide, I'm going to lock
everyvbody up in a hospital. And therefore, as part of
growth and change and a whole variety of competing
needs, one often takes various kinds of risks. 2And
that's part of the dilemma of being a clinician.
Doctor, let me ask you this, What's reguired to
comply with the standard of care of a mental health
care provider when & patient presents with suicidal
ideations in order to comply with the standard of
care?

If one is -~

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
If one is doing an assessment, if one is functioning
as that person's clinician and the person is, has
acute changes, because the situations are different
for people who are chronically suicidal, I deal with
people who from one month from one week from one vear
to the next continue to be suicidal, and the
assessment and the way you intervene them is really

gquite different, but for somebody who has not been

95

PROFESSICHAL REPCRTERS, LTD.




L B o

)

e v e ¥ -4

10
i1

i3
i4
15
16
17
ig
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

hed

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

chronically suicidal, you want to deo a suicide
assessment, that is, vou want to explore how it came
on, how serious it is, what plans have been made, the
degree of hopelessness, what kinds of coping the
person has, has not done, what stresses are involved.
You want to understand clinically the current
picture, relate it toc past episocdes of similar
situations and then come up with a plan, if you can,
to decrease the future risk, not always by putting the
person in the hospital, but by doing some intervention
with the client.
Iz there an increased incidence of suicide at or
around the time of holidays?
You know, that has often been said, but when it's been
studied, it's been difficult tco f£find that reliable.
Some studies have shown it, but others have not. And
we used to teach it, but it doesn't seem to be as
robust as we thought.
I asked you before whether you knew Dr. Sudak and you
said you did not?
I do not.
Are you familiar with the chapter that he's written in
the Comprehensive Textbook of Pyschiatry?
I'm familiar with the Comprehensive Textbook of

Psychiatry. I have not reviewed his chapter.

g6
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From your review in this case and the knowledge that
you have gained either directly, or assumptions that
you have been asked tc make or information that

Mr. Pfau has given to you, accurate or inaccurate, did
Mr. Lorelli have any characteristics of the type of
patient that in your professional opinion would be at
risk of committing suicide?

He was male.

Okay.

That increases risk. He had a bipolar diagnosis.
That in and of itself incorsases risk.

He was saying that he wasn't sleeping, which I
think to some slight extent increases risk in a
bipclar patient, one worries about it, especially if
that's been a change.

Other than that, I don't have enough clinical
information to answer further.

If in fact he also indicated that he was going through
a life or death situation, would that outward
expression of that type of statement also increase the
risk of the patient committing suicide?

Sure. I wasn't exactly sure, in the different
interpretations, about whether he is referring to a
past event or current event. That's a bit confusing,

but certainly if somebody now says, vou know, I'm
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going through a life and death situation, one would
think that would increase risk.

How often do people that talk about committing suicide
actually go ahead and execute their plan?

Too often. On the one hand, most people who talk
about suicide don't. On the other hand, most people
who do suicide have talked about it. So it depends on
how much is too much oxr too little.

Most people who talk about it don't, but that
doaesn't in any way leave us sanguine that it's okay.
Most people who talk about killing scmebody den't
either, but the fact that somebody would make specific
threats doesn't let us rest easy.

Earlier we talked about certain disagreements that you
had with Dr. Sudak?
Uh-huh.
And I would like you now, I would like to give you the
opportunity to spill them out.
(Witness examines document)
There are a couple of ones. One is the
recordkeeping. He seems to suggest, let me just -~
(Witness examines document)
"Proper assessment would have indicated an emergency
psychiatric admission was required to prevent a

suicide.” The question is this assumes that there was
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an obligation to do what I would call a clinical

assegssment.

b

And there seemed to be a
this that even if he had been seen briefly outside of
the scheduled appeointment, there was a clinical
obligation to then put off whatever else he was doing,
Dr. Newman, Dr. Giannini, and attend to this one
person and to take the half hour or hour, whatever it
would take, to deo that kind of true elinical
assessmeant.

For somebody who was not my patient, I would not
see myself ag having that obligation. 2And se the
question is is that a reasonable standard of care.
Wnen you say for someone that's not my patient, if
Dr. Giannini assigned Dr. Newman to see Mr. Lorelli on
September 4th and hypothetically Mr. Lorelli did come
for that appointment ~-

If he did come for that appointment and that
appointment was carried out, then he is a patient.
Okay .

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
And, Doctor, do you recall in Dr. Newman's testimony
that he doesn't have any recollection of ever meeting
Mr. Lorelli?

I remember that.

i
w0
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He has no explanation for how Mr. Lorelli obtained
the, his home telephone number. Do you recall that as
well?
I remember that.

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
The other part of this is this is unfortunate, but I
think much of the note taking done by receptionists is
not at the same standards as medical records. AaAnd I
think that's true virtually of every clinic I have
sean or reviewed, including this one and the Mental
Health Center.

I think that standards of recordkeeping for
telephone notes handied by receptionists is a standard
that is not supportable in the real world.

The other part of it, which I think I disagree
with, is the idea that you would recognize or the
reception staff would recognize a patient seen 15
vears before as a previous patient. I think that's a
standard that is extraordinarily unrealistic.

We are now beginning to be able to do that
because we have automated computerized systems, but
that starts at the time of our current computer
system. I think there are very few places that would
automatically recognize a patient from 15 yvears before

ag a patient or be able to pull the records with any
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kind of reasonable time.

Around here it might take a significant number of
days, even if you recognized that it was a patient, to
get the records over here. So those would be the
major areas of disagreement.

Of disagreement with Dr. Sudak?

Yeah .

Okay. Is there any evidence that you see from
anything that you have reviewed or assumptions that
were given to you that Mr. Lorelli was showing "drug
seeking behavior"?

I don't have enough clinical information to know that.
BEvidently he cailed in saying he needed medication and
he wasn't able to sleep. That can be somebody who is
drug seeking sleeping pills or it can be somebody who
is beginning a hypomanic episode and knows that not
sleeping is an early sign that they need help. I
don't think we have enough information to make that
determination.

Can we agree that most drugs that are given for sleep
are called --

Hypnotics.

-- hypnotics, correct?

That's correct.

And most of these drugs, with maybe a rare exception,

101
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are not narcotics, correct?
They are not narcotics. There are varying degrees of
ugability or addiction potential.
If you are presented with clinical evidence that a
patient that is, that you see presents as a clear
psychiatric emergency, what steps need to be taken to
comply with the standard of care?
MR. SHROGE: Objection.

Well, one guestion about standard of care is is this
somebody who is my patient, do I have legal as well as
moral responsibility hsre.
Let's assume that there is an undertaking, implicitly
or expressly, either as a matter of law or factual
determination, that there is a physician-patient
relationship, assume that hypothetically, then -~
Then one either has to do enough of an assessment to
figure out what's going on and whether it can be put
off until one has time or one needs to transfer that
person to a place where that assessment can be done.

So you are doing an initial triage. And the
triage requires certain basic risk assessment.
Is it ever acceptable in a physician-patient
relationship, where a patient presents with a clear
psychiatric emergency, not to take steps to determine

the degree of risk that that patient presents to
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himself or to others?

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
Once you determine that there is a psychiatric
emergency, then one needs to intervene the same way
that, whether you are somebody's physician or not, if
they are bleeding, one staunches the blood flow. The
cuestion is does one automatically kneow, without doing
more of an investigation, that there is an emergency
going on.

And very often I deal with people who, when you
first sit down with them, the amergency or the nature
cf the emergency may not be at all apparent.

So if somebody is clearly in an emergency, the
answer is you have an obligation. The question is at
what point do you have an obligation to find out if
there is an emergency. That's often a harder
question.

I think vou said -~ strike that. Would vou agree that
Kathy Ludt made a mistake in terms of not dating and
timing Mr. Lorelli's telephone call?

Yes.

Would you agree that she was also negligent in not
recording the no-show or the cancellation on the
calendar if in fact Mr. Lorelli did not appear for the

appeointment?
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A I think negligent may have a different legal case than

what I mean. She should have done it. It was against

t

cffice procedure. And it would have made life a lo
easier for a whole variety of reasons had she done
it. Whether that's legally negligent or not is an
issue beyond what I can talk to.
Good answer.

{Counsel examines document)
And we can certainly agree that the records that were
maintained by the defendants, the one that you have
been retained by and the other one that's represented
by the guy on the other end of the phone, those
records clearly do not indicate whether or not
Mr. Lorelli was or was not seen on September 4, 1998,
true?
They don't speak to the issue at all.
I think y#u also acknowledge that there is substantial
confusion in terms of exactly what was discussed on
the phone when Mr. Lorelli first called, correct?
That's correct.
And this issue of life or death situation, going
through bad time, if in fact that was relating to
current events as opposed to historical events, do you
know whether that took place during the first call or

the second call®?
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A I don't.

Q Why in your report do you assume that the note dces
not reflect a current or immediate life-threatening
emergency?

A I took the note as saying that he wanted something for
sleep or anxiety. That's what I thought was in the
initial note.

Q@ Well, we know the note that says wants something -~

MR. PFAU: Actually this isn't the

actual note that I gave him though.

o

A I can't guite find i

MR, PFAU: It's attached to that
lettex.

MR. MISHRKIND: This iz a
transcription of the note. There is no question
that this is what was written.

A Where are we here?

MR. PFAU: I will get you one.

MR. MISHKIND: Here, you got it
attached here too. {(Indicating)

MR. PFAU: Yeah.

Q@ This is attached to Mr. Pfau's letter to you --
Yeah, you have it.
Just to reiterate, my question then to you is in your

report you assume that the note does not reflect an
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immediate, current life~threatening emergency?

You know, there are different ways that one can take
this note and read it depending on what one thinks the
correct pronunciation of the syllables is.

The way I read it, which is not the only way to
read it, was that he had gone through a life or death
situation in '79 or '80, now he just wants meds, savs
he doesn't need counseling.

If he were now in a lot of distress, I would have
assumed the tenor of the note would have sounded
different than that, but certasinly cther reascnzble
people can make other assumptions.

It doesn't say he had gone through bad times, it says
going through, correct?

Yeah. Like I say, I think there are lots of different
ways to read this.

And you are assuming, for purposes of being the expert
for Dr. Giannini, that this did not present as an
immediate, current life-threatening emergency because
this was something historic as opposed to something
current, is that true?

That's true. The idea that they scheduled him fairly
promptly for an appointment suggests that somebody had
some levels of concern and tried to respond to it.

Well, let me ask you to assume that, since vou don't

i0s
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know when this information was conveyed, if in fact
the patisnt was based upon going through a life or
death situation, bad time, patient was given an
appointment for September 24th.

If somebody called up and said I'm going through a
life or death situation, and the first appointment
with me was three weeks hence, four weeks hence, I
would have assumed that the person would have been
told go to the emergency room, go to the crisis
service.

That would have been a reasocnable and prudent thing to
do, correct?

That would have been a reasonable and prudent thing to
do. So the idea that an appointment was even made,
when the first appointment was offered some weeks down
the road, would have suggested that either the person
did not present in that kind of distress, or was
willing to wait for that kind of an appointment, or
there was something about the interaction that
suggested this was not an immediate, acute, life-
threatening emergency.

Or isn't there another possibility that you have left
out?

It's possible that the receptionist could have been

incompetent or untrained. That's certainly a
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possibility.

And you can't rule that out?

Cannot rule that out. Having said that, it's possible
that then following that, the person then tried to
wait for an appointment, got an appeintment, didn't
keep the appointment.

It's also -~ one could hope that if the person
was in that much distress, they would have gone to an
emergency room or some kind of crisis service knowing
that the first appointment was some time down the
road.

There are lots of different possible scenarios,
but the most likely one, as I read it, is not that he
is now in that kind of acute distress because there is
nothing about I told him to go to the emergency room,
our first appointment is the 24th.

And again you are assuming because it’s absent that
therefore this individual, in her judgment, didn't
feel that his statement was a crisis or an emergency?
It makes me think that if she had heard correctly or
incorrectly that this was a crisis or an emergency,
she would have responded in some different way than an
appointment some weeks down the road.

Do you know what caused the office to, after giving

her the, giving him the appointment on September 24th,
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what caused the office to give him an appointment on
September, for September 4th, some two to three days
after he had originally called the office?

Dr. Meorrison's assumption in her report was that he
had called a second time. And that makes as much
sense as anything else, given that we don't have any
data or infeormation and we are all guessing.

Do you have an opinion or a position as to when that
second call was made?

No.

And again for purposes of your opinicns, you are not

taking into account any of the testimony of the family

members, or neighbor or friend in terxrms of the state
cf mind that they experienced --
I have not geen any of that testimony.

{Counsel examines document)
If Mr. Lorelli had been seen on September 4th and
evaluated in a session, he didn't need to undergo,
during an initial session by a licensed professional
counselor, an MMPI, did he?
No.
Would you agree that the initial assessment on
September 4th, if in fact one took place and
Mr. Lorelli came in, would have been to ascertain

perhaps, among other things, the following, a history
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that would have included suicidal thoughts and

ideations, a history concerning any paranoid thoughts,

and a history concerning his level of depression as
well as his level of mania that he was experiencing?
All those things would be expected to be part of an
adegquate initial assessment.
And that would be something that you would expect
whether it's by a psychiatrist or a licensed
professional counselor seeing someone in a psychiatric
¢linic, true?
Yes,
Standard of care wouldn't be anvy different for one
versus the other, correct, in terms of the initial
psychiatric evaluation?
Not in terms of basic risk assessment, which is what
you are talking about.
True. Okay.

(Counsel examines document)
Do you know how Mr. Lorelli took his life?
It's in the coroner's report. I would have to review
it.

{(Witness examines documents)
If I had done my homework better, I would know and I
don't without locking.

MR, PFAU: You'wve answered his

110

PROFESEIONAL REPORTERS, LTD.




e T+ DT - S 7 N

o

10
11
i2
13
14
15
is6
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

question though, Doctor.

THE WITHESS: Yeah.

'}

FALl: If he wantes ancther cons,
he will ask it.
Doctor, if two days.after the visit to the clinic,
September 6th, Mr. Lorelli took his life and if in
fact he had been seen on September 4th, 1998, do you
have an opinion more likely than not as to whether
Mr. Lorelli was suicidal on September 4, 15887
I can't answer that. At times these things develop
over time and one can clesarly catch them. &t other
times they can really be quite impulsive and the
situation can change rapidly. So without some
clinical data, it's hard to judge.
Can you rule out the likelihood of him committing
suicide on September 6th, on September 6th -- strike
thét. It's never going to come out the way I wanted
it and I didn't want you to criticize me for my
question.
Sorry about that.
That's all right, not a problem. Can we agree that
Mr. Lorelli was at substantial risk on September 4 of
committing suicide given what we know tock place on
September 6th?

MR. PFAU: Objection.

Pt
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Actually, surprisingly, we don't.
MR. SEROGE: I didn't hear the
whole c¢uestion, but I think I know the gist. I
object.
MR. MISHKIND: Even if you don't
know the question, you can object.
MR. SHROGE: What was the
quastion?
Given that we know that he killed himself on the 6th,
couldn't we have predicted that on the 4th.
MR. SHROGE: I will definitely
object.
And the answer is no. There are times in which ocne
can ¢learly, by doing a clinical interview and
assessment, make these predictions, which is why we do
them, but other times people become suicidal very
impulsively and very rapidly and very unpredictably.
And so I have certainly seen people days before who
two days later become very suicidal in quite
unexpected ways.
So you would need to know and understand the clinical
picture that was taking place on September 4th to be
able to tell me whether or not this patient, whether
you could have predicted that this patient was going

to commit sulicide in the imminent future?
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Correct.
My question wasn't quite the way that you put it
though. I asked vou whether or not he was at
substantial risk of committing suicide on September
6th, on September 4th knowing that he comitted suicide
on September 6th. It was a little bit different than
the way --
Since we know the end, it's tempting to say that we
should have known that earlier in the book. What I'm
saying is that without knowing the clinical situation
of the 4th, we don't know very much about how he was
on the 4th.
30 again, it would depend upon the clinical
information that was available and/or presented on
September 4th as to whether or not a reasonable mental
health care provider should have known that or should
have appreciated that Mr. Lorelli was at substantial
risk of attempting to commit suicide?
That's correct.

MR. PFAU: Objection.

MR. SHROGE: Objection.
Can I ask for a return of this phone call?

{A short recess is taken)

You looked at the office policy or manual, true?

I did.
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And therxre is some reference to someone calling in a
crisis should be referred to an emergency room,

There is a reference that they should be, a therapist
should be contacted, they should not be put on hold.

I was told that the training includes calliing an
emergency room. I don't believe that that was part of
the procedures manual.

Fair enough. We can agree that there is nothing in
the record indicating that Mr. Lorelli at any time
during any of the telephone calls or when he showsed up
on September 4th, assuming he did show up, was
referred to an emergency room, correct?
We have no information about that.
Nothing to indicate that he was referred?
Right.
Okay.

(Counsel examines document)
What information have you been provided by Mr. Pfau or
you have obtained on your own relative to the
appropriateness of giving the home phone number in
this practice, Giannini‘s practice, to a patient or a
new patient?
I don't know anything about their policies ox

practice. Since ethics and boundary issues is one of
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the things I regularly lecture on, we can talk about
that in scme length if vou'd like.
In terms of their office policy --
I don't know about their office pelicy. There is
tremendous individual variation from one practitioner
to another about practice styles.
But as it relates to what the emplovees are instructed
to do oxr not to do on a new patient or a patient that
presents relative to giving the home phone number, you
don't know, correct?
I do not know.

{Counsel examines documents}
Doctor, do you blame Mr. Lorelli?
For what?
For his death.

MR. PFAU: Objection.

Ho. I actually consider the question somewhat bizarre
actually.
Okay. That's all right. T take that as a
compliment.

How do you define the term standard of care? We
have been talking about that for two and a half hours
or so, but I never bothered asking you to tell me what
vou meant by standard of care.

Well, first of all, I think it's often a legal term,
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but as I understand it, it is what I expect reasonable
practitioners to actually do in their general day-to-
day practice, not necessarily the standardes to which
we aspire, to which we would always like to do, but
what we in fact generally accomplish in all of the
vestige and compromises that we typically make.

And you would expect that Dr. Giannini and Dr. Newman
would be judged by the national standards of care for
what you would expect an ordinary and reasonable
practitioner to do under like or similar
aircumstanoss, trua?

Yes. I think there is some areas where there may be
differences from one community to¢ another, but in
terms of how to do a basic risk assessment, if that in
fact is called for, that's pretty standaxrd.

Doctor, I believe that I have finished my questions,
but I just want to find out whether there are any
other opinions that you hold with regard to specifics
in this case as it relates to standard of care that
you have defined for me or causation in terms of the
cause of Mr. Lorelli's ultimate suicide that we have
not talked about during our get-together this
afternoon?

I don't believe so.

Thank you. Exhibit 3, would vou take a loock at
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Exhibit 3 for me.
My scratches.
Yeg. Isg that in your handwriting?
Yes.
It's on a piece of legal paper?
Yes.
Dated March 11, 0372
It was based on a phone conversation that I had with
Mr. Pfau.
Can you read what it says there?
"Patient 'seen' in the office by a doctor. Drug
seeking -~ not an emergency. How did he know? Former
patient issue. Failure to maintain a proper record."
It tock me about 15 minutes for the phone and the
review of information he previously sent.
MR. MISHKIND: Okay. Very good.
With that, Doctor, I thank you for your time. I
have no further gquestions.
MR. PFAU: Michael?
MR, SHROGE: Yeah, I'm still here.
I have not gone to sleep yet. I do have just a
couple of very brief questions for the doctor, if
I may be so obliged.
MR. PFAU: Go ahead.

MR. SHROGE: Can yvou hear me okay?
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THE WITNESS: Yup.

MR. SHROGE: Hello?

THE WITNESS: Yup, go ahead.

EXBMINATION
BY MR. SHROGE:
Doctor, I did not have an opportunity to introduce
myself prior to the start of vour deposition. My name
is Michael Shroge. I'm from the law firm of Reminger
& Reminger and I represent Dr. Newman in this case.
First of all, in addition te the materials that

vou wers provided and the facts vyou were asked to
assume, you have been asked to assume some facts by
Mr. Misghkind and provided other facts, given all that
other information he provided to you today, have those
changed the opinions that you have set forth in your
report of March 18th, 20037

MR. MISHKIND: Objection.
Not substantially. Basically the issues are what are
the relevant facts of the case. My best view is that
the facts as maintained by Dr. Morrison seem to be as
good a guess as any. And given that, I would concur
with her opinion that I think that there were no
deviations from standard of care primarily because
there did not seem to be the development of an

appropriate docter-patient relationship that was in

ii8

PROFESESTONAL REPORTERS, 1LTD.




=B RS - T ¢ B - T 7S B % B

15
1s6
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Lo T oI

Deposition of RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D. 10-08-03

force.
And absent Dr. Morrison's report, did you have
materials available to you prior to writing your
report that allowed you to make that assessment in and
of itself?
I did not try and review in detail the facts of the
case, but based my report very largely on the
assumptions that Mr. Pfau asked me to make.
I understand that. What I'm asking is did you feel
that you had the facts necessary to author your
report?
Yes.
Okay. Doctor, would you ever put your reputation
behind your report or author a report in a case if you
did not believe that you had the necessary facts to
reach your opinions?

MR. MISHEKIND: Objection. Go

ahead.

No.
ALl right. Thank you.
I don't need the business that much.
Do you have any criticisms, independent of what
Mr. Mishkind has asked you, do you have any criticisms
of Dr. Newman in this case?

MR. MISHEIND: Objection.
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MR. SHROGE: All right. I don't
have anything further.

{5:55 p.m.}
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STATE OF WISCONSIN )
Ves.

COUNTY QOF DANE }

I, HEIDI L. DAVIS, a Notary Public in and for the
State of Wisconsin, do hereby certify that the above
deposition was taken before me at the offices of
Wisconsin Pyschiatric Institute and Clinics, 6001
Research Park Boulevard, in the City of Madison, County
of Dane and in said State, on October 8, 2003, commencing
at 3:10 p.m.; that it was taken at the request of the
plaintiffs, upon verbal interrogatories; that it was
taken in shorthand by me, a2 competent court reporter and
disinterested person, approved by all parties in
interest, and thereafter reduced to writing by me using
computer-aided transcripticn; that said deposition is a
true record of the deponent's testimony; that said
deposition is to be used in the above-entitled action now
pending; that the appearances were as shown on Page 3 of
the deposition; that reading and signing was requested;
that the said RONALD J. DIAMOND, M.D., before
examination, was sworn by me to testify the truth, the
whole truth, and nothing but the truth relative to said
cause.

Dated October 15, 2003.

Notazwaubl;c State of Wisconsin
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